



Economic and Fiscal Impact of the New York State Film Tax Credit Program: 2021-2022

Sponsor Empire State Development



Empire State Development Principal Investigator Peter Evangelakis, Ph.D.

> Project Managers Chris Judson Julian Cook

Economic Analyst David Casazza

# Table of Contents

Table of Contents	2
REMI Background & Experience	3
Key Terms (Glossary)	4
Executive Summary	5
Introduction	7
Methodology	9
Results	11
Production Impacts	11
Post-Production Impacts	14
Total Impacts	17
Conclusion	21
Literature Review	22
State Film Tax Credit Programs	22
Film & Television Tourism	23
Appendix 1: REMI Model Framework & Fiscal Calibration	24
REMI Model Framework	24
Fiscal Calibration	28
Appendix 2: References	29

# **REMI Background & Experience**

Regional Economic Models, Inc. (REMI) is an independent company with offices in Amherst, MA and Washington, D.C. that provides non-partisan economic analysis and modeling software to its clients, who include federal, state, and local government agencies, non-profit organizations, universities, and private companies. With over 40 years of experience, REMI is a worldwide leader in providing dynamic regional U.S. macroeconomic and demographic models used to evaluate economic development as well as many other policy issues such as taxes, health care, transportation, energy and the environment, and trade. REMI consultative services and modeling software have been utilized on several economic development and fiscal studies in New York and other states and countries.

# Key Terms (Glossary)

**Employment:** Employment comprises estimates of the number of jobs, full-time plus part-time, by place of work for all industries.

**Direct Jobs:** Full-time equivalent (FTE) jobs derived from the total number of hires for all the projects evaluated as part of this study.

**Indirect Jobs:** Full-time plus part-time jobs in upstream industries that supply and support the film production and post-production industries.

**Induced Jobs:** All full-time plus part-time jobs that are neither Direct Jobs nor Indirect Jobs. This includes jobs in consumer goods and services industries affected by consumer spending of the wages from the direct and indirect jobs, jobs associated with residential and business investment caused by the additional population and economic growth, jobs associated with additional government spending, and others.

**GDP:** Gross Domestic Product. The market value of goods and services produced by labor and property. It is also the sum of value-added across all industries, which is economic output less the value of the intermediate inputs.

**Economic Output:** The amount of production, including all intermediate goods purchased as well as value added (compensation and profit). This can also be thought of as gross sales or supply.

**Disposable Personal Income:** Total after-tax income received by persons; it is the income available to persons for spending or saving.

**Personal Income:** Income received by persons from all sources. It is the sum of wages and salaries, supplements to wages and salaries, proprietors' income, rental income, asset income, and personal current transfer receipts, net of contributions for government social insurance.

**Return on Investment (ROI):** A calculation measuring the economic and fiscal benefits relative to the costs of the tax credits issued. Both the numerator and denominator of the ratio are calculated as PVs in Real Dollars with the benefits occurring in 2021 and 2022 and the costs occurring over the 2024-2031 period when the credits are issued. The reported ROI metrics are applied to State Government Revenue, State & Local Government Spending (total fiscal benefit), GDP ROI, and Economic Output ROI.

**Present Value (PV):** The current value of a future stream of cash flows given a specified rate of return. Future cash flows are discounted at the discount rate. For purposes of this analysis, the discount rate is the 5-year Treasury bond yield, which at the time of the analysis was 4.212%.

**Nominal/Real Dollars:** Dollars representing the value of goods and services tied to the price level in the current/a given fixed year. Also referred to as Current/Fixed Dollars. For this study, the fixed year is 2021.

## **Executive Summary**

Empire State Development (ESD) serves as the economic development corporation for New York State. One of its responsibilities is administering the New York State Film Tax Credit Programs for film production and post-production. Started in 2004, the purpose of the programs is to attract film and television companies to the state to complete projects in both the production and post-production stages of development, with the purpose of creating and maintaining jobs in the industry and benefiting the overall economy. Regional Economic Models, Inc. (REMI) was retained by ESD to perform an economic and fiscal impact analysis of these credit programs at the state and local levels for the 2021-2022 period. REMI used a Tax-PI model including multiple economic regions in New York State and the rest of the nation. REMI's study included return on investment (ROI) calculations measuring the economic and fiscal benefits relative to the cost of the credits, which are to be distributed over the period 2024-2031.

Using program information provided by ESD for 233 film production and 213 post-production projects initiated during the study period, REMI found the following key results<sup>1</sup> for 2021-2022:

- The direct spending of \$10.9 billion (nominal) from the 446 projects resulted in 131,454 jobs (direct/indirect/induced) across 2 years<sup>2</sup> for an average annual employment impact of 65,727 at the state level, with 62,846 resulting from production activity and 2,881 resulting from post-production activity.
- For every direct full-time-equivalent job, 1.5 additional jobs were created in the state economy.
- The projects grew the state economy significantly, adding \$18.3 billion in Gross Domestic Product (GDP) across 2 years<sup>3</sup> for an annual average of \$9.2 billion and \$31.9 billion in economic output across 2 years<sup>4</sup> for an annual average of \$15.9 billion.
- The projects added \$8.9 billion in disposable personal income for New York State residents across 2 years<sup>5</sup> for an annual average of \$4.5 billion.
- The projects generated \$2.3 billion in state and local government revenue across 2 years<sup>6</sup> for an annual average of \$1.1 billion resulting in a combined state and local fiscal benefit-cost ratio of 1.7.
- The projects added nearly \$14 to the State's GDP and almost \$24 of economic output for every \$1 of tax credit issued (GDP ROI 13.8 and Economic Output ROI 23.9).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Unless otherwise stated, dollar figures are given in Fixed Local (Real) 2021 Dollars.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This is in units of "job-years". Employment impacts are specific to each year, so these units acknowledge the addition across two years.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This is an undiscounted sum across two years, as opposed to the present value (PV) shown below, which was discounted using the 5-year Treasury bond yield at the time of analysis of 4.212%.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> As above, this is an undiscounted sum across two years.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> As above, this is an undiscounted sum across two years.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> As above, this is an undiscounted sum across two years.

## **Executive Summary Table**

Category	2021	2022	2021-2022 Average	2021-2022 PV
Employment (Jobs)	65,363	66,091	65,727	
Direct	26,681	25,256	25,969	
Indirect	8,036	7,255	7,646	
Induced	30,646	33,580	32,113	
Gross Domestic Product (Billions of Local 2021 Dollars)	9.3	9.0	9.2	18.0
Economic Output (Billions of Local 2021 Dollars)	16.2	15.7	15.9	31.2
Disposable Personal Income (Billions of Local 2021 Dollars)	4.5	4.4	4.5	8.8
State Government Revenue (Millions of Local 2021 Dollars)	399.1	451.5	425.3	832.4
Local Government Revenue (Millions of Local 2021 Dollars)	662.6	744.8	703.7	1,377.3
Total Credits (Millions of Local 2021 Dollars)				1,305.2
State Government Revenue ROI				0.6
State & Local Government Revenue ROI				1.7
Gross Domestic Product ROI				13.8
Economic Output ROI				23.9

\*PV's (Present Values) were calculated based on the 5-year Treasury bond yield, which at the time of analysis was 4.212%. Totals, averages, and PV's may not correspond to impacts due to rounding.

## Introduction

Empire State Development (ESD) is the umbrella organization for the New York State Urban Development Corporation and the Department of Economic Development, operationally joined since 1995. ESD's mission "is to promote a vigorous and growing state economy, encourage business investment and job creation, and support diverse, prosperous local economies across New York State through the efficient use of loans, grants, tax credits, real estate development, marketing, and other forms of assistance".

In response to a reduced presence of the film industry in New York State, and in order to compete with tax credits in other states, the New York State Film Tax Credit Program was introduced in 2004 as a 10 percent credit against qualified production costs. It was extended and increased to 30 percent in 2008. In 2010, the Post-Production Program was created to allow film productions that are filmed predominantly outside of New York State but post-produced by companies in New York State to participate. After a 2012 increase in the post-production credit to match the production credit at 30 percent and a subsequent decrease in both credits in 2020, the program provided a 25 percent credit to qualified below-the-line production costs and post-production costs. The decade after the introduction of the program saw growth in employment and earnings share, but that trend reversed in the late 2010's and has leveled off in the early 2020's.<sup>7</sup>





\*Units: Nominal Dollars. Sources: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages; Empire State Development.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The film industry is defined here as the aggregation of Motion Picture and Video Production, Motion Picture and Video Distribution, Teleproduction and Other Postproduction Services, and Other Motion Picture and Video Industries. This is likely an undercount, as some film jobs are categorized under other industries such as Independent Artists or Entertainment Payroll.

As of April 1, 2023, the tax incentive program was expanded and enhanced. The annual cap was raised to \$700 million and extended until 2034, above-the-line salaries were covered alongside the existing coverage for below-the-line salaries, the credit was reinstated to 30 percent, and credits were further enhanced for productions filmed upstate. In addition to the return to the 30% tax credit base rate, the Post-Production funding allocation was increased from \$25 million to \$45 million.

For the period analyzed, the program budgeted \$420 million annually to incentivize film and television production companies to produce their projects in New York State with the goal of creating and maintaining industry jobs and related economic activity, with \$25 million of those funds allocated to post-production. In addition to the fully refundable credit of 25 percent of qualified in-state production costs, productions with budgets exceeding \$500,000 during the period 2015-2029 may be able to receive an additional 10 percent credit on qualified labor expenses in many counties.

For post-production costs, an additional 5 percent credit over and above the baseline of 25 percent was available for costs incurred in upstate New York. Similar to the production credit, productions with budgets exceeding \$500,000 during the period 2015-2029 were able to receive an additional 10 percent credit on qualified labor expenses in many counties, with a maximum annual expenditure of \$5 million.

After an RFP process in 2022, Regional Economic Models, Inc. (REMI) was selected to perform an economic and fiscal impact analysis of the New York State Film Tax Credit Programs at the state and local levels over the period 2021-2022 using a multi-regional state and national Tax-PI model. Specifically, REMI considered how the film and television industry's operations and expenditures associated with 233 production and 213 post-production projects initiated during the period would affect employment, Gross Domestic Product (GDP), economic output, disposable personal income, state government revenue, and local government revenue for New York State and its constituent regions.

REMI found positive economic and fiscal impacts of the qualifying projects for New York State. These included average annual total employment of 65,727 jobs, with 50,887 located in New York City, real GDP and real economic output footprints of \$9.2 billion and \$15.9 billion per year respectively, and aggregate real disposable personal income of approximately \$4.5 billion annually. Associated real state government revenues grew \$425.3 million per annum, and real local government revenues totaled \$703.7 million on average, of which \$473.8 million were collected in New York City.

The tax credits for the 2021-2022 activity will be distributed during the period 2024-2031, with a real present value (PV) of about \$1.3 billion. Based on the economic and fiscal returns, real state government revenue will see a return on investment (ROI) of 0.6, while combined real state and local government revenue will generate a ROI of 1.7, a net increase in available funds across all New York State governments. Finally, as a measure of impacts on the economy, real GDP will have a ROI of 13.8 and real economic output will have a ROI of 23.9.

## Methodology

In order to assess the economic and fiscal impacts of the New York State Film Tax Credit Program, REMI used a 10-region, 70-sector Tax-PI v3.0 model of New York State and the United States. Regions falling outside of New York State were not included in the inputs or results of the study, but allowed for more accurate results for the New York State regions. More detailed information is available about the model and the fiscal calibration in Appendix 1.

ESD provided REMI with detailed data for 233 qualifying production and 213 qualifying post-production projects during 2021-2022. This included employment data and nominal regional expenditures by year. Employment data included employment and wage data by position, separated into above-the-line (ATL), below-the-line (BTL), extras, and post-production. Different positions have different expected times of labor, the two extremes being extras who may work for a number of hours or days on multiple projects and post-production staff who are often part of a permanent post-production studio and work full-time on one or two projects. Based on available data, including average length of project, average length of employment by role, and average wage per hire, ESD converted project hires to full-time-equivalent jobs, which were used as direct employment inputs. These are displayed in the employment impact tables in the Results section. Expenditures are summarized in the Spending Inputs Table.

Spending Category	2021	2022	Total
Wage			
Production			
New York State	2,058,758,971	3,249,644,364	5,308,403,335
New York City	1,794,870,385	2,770,982,740	4,565,853,125
Post-Production			
New York State	119,514,874	96,014,778	215,529,652
New York City	74,908,377	58,311,174	133,219,551
Non-Wage			
Production			
New York State	2,658,061,897	2,422,420,678	5,080,482,575
New York City	2,317,355,575	2,065,606,305	4,382,961,880
Post-Production			
New York State	131,920,018	181,657,701	313,577,719
New York City	82,683,553	110,323,369	193,006,922
Totals			
Production			
New York State	4,716,820,868	5,672,065,042	10,388,885,910
New York City	4,112,225,960	4,836,589,045	8,948,815,005
Post-Production			
New York State	251,434,892	277,672,479	529,107,371
New York City	157,591,930	168,634,543	326,226,474
Grand Totals			
New York State	4,968,255,760	5,949,737,521	10,917,993,281
New York City	4,269,817,890	5,005,223,588	9,275,041,479

#### Spending Inputs Table

\*Units: Nominal Dollars

The amount of wages determined to remain and be spent in-state were adjusted primarily based on the percentage of hires that ESD estimated were in-state residents. Specifically, 48 percent of ATL wages<sup>8</sup>, 93 percent of BTL and post-production wages, and 95 percent of extras wages were assumed to stay in New York State. Non-wage spending was treated as indirect economic output. These data were combined to develop model inputs for the motion picture and sound recording industries, namely employment, wages, and economic output by region.<sup>9</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Given the discrepancy between the percentage of in-state residents and the percentage of in-state wages for ATL hires (driven in large part by highly paid out-of-state directors, executive producers, actors, etc.), the latter percentage was used to adjust ATL wages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Post-production data was only provided as Upstate and Downstate due to credit criteria, and so post-production inputs were spread across regions based on the model's baseline regional employment data. Upstate New York includes counties falling outside of the Metropolitan Commuter Transportation District.

## Results

This section reports the economic and fiscal impacts of the New York State Film Tax Credit Program over the period 2021-2022, specifically on employment, real GDP, real economic output, real disposable personal income, and real state and local government revenue.<sup>10</sup> Due to the role that New York City plays in the film and television industry, its results have been isolated alongside New York State's below.

## **Production Impacts**

Production credits account for the majority of program expenditures, and accordingly production activity accounts for the majority of the economic and fiscal impacts.

Tables 1A and 1B show the employment impacts for New York State and New York City, averaging 62,846 and 48,118 jobs per year respectively. New York City accounts for 86 percent of the direct impact and 77 percent of the total impact.

Employment Category	2021	2022	2021-2022 Average
Total Employment	62,518	63,174	62,846
Direct Employment	25,685	24,445	25,065
Indirect Employment	7,648	6,738	7,193
Induced Employment	29,185	31,991	30,588

#### Table 1A: New York State Production Credit Employment Impact

\*Units: Jobs. Totals and averages may not correspond to impacts due to rounding.

#### Table 1B: New York City Production Credit Employment Impact

Employment Category	2021	2022	2021-2022 Average
Total Employment	49,030	47,206	48,118
Direct Employment	22,393	20,845	21,619
Indirect Employment	6,400	5,445	5,922
Induced Employment	20,237	20,916	20,576

\*Units: Jobs. Totals and averages may not correspond to impacts due to rounding.

Tables 2A and 2B show the other economic impacts for New York State and New York City, with the former averaging \$8.7 billion in GDP, \$15.1 billion in economic output, and \$4.3 billion in disposable personal income per year. New York City accounts for over 80 percent of the GDP and economic output impacts, roughly in line with the employment impacts, but under 63 percent of the disposable personal income impact. The latter observation can be attributed to the fact that many individuals who work in New York City commute from outside its borders, where their income is ultimately counted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The "real" descriptor is omitted in this section for brevity.

Economic Category	2021	2022	2021-2022 Average	2021-2022 PV						
Gross Domestic Product	8.9	8.5	8.7	17.1						
Economic Output	15.5	14.8	15.1	29.7						
Disposable Personal Income	4.3	4.2	4.3	8.3						

## Table 2A: New York State Production Credit Economic Impact

\*Units: Billions of Fixed Local 2021 Dollars. PV's were calculated based on the 5-year Treasury bond yield, which at the time of analysis was 4.212%. Averages and PV's may not correspond to impacts due to rounding.

#### Table 2B: New York City Production Credit Economic Impact

Economic Category	2021	2022	2021-2022 Average	2021-2022 PV
Gross Domestic Product	7.4	6.8	7.1	13.9
Economic Output	12.8	11.6	12.2	23.9
Disposable Personal Income	2.8	2.6	2.7	5.3

\*Units: Billions of Fixed Local 2021 Dollars. PV's were calculated based on the 5-year Treasury bond yield, which at the time of analysis was 4.212%. Averages and PV's may not correspond to impacts due to rounding.

Table 3A shows local government revenue impacts aggregated over all of New York State, and Table 3B shows local government revenue impacts for New York City alone, averaging \$671.1 million and \$442.6 million per year respectively. Over 46 percent of the New York State impacts are attributable to property taxes, as opposed to under 40 percent of the New York City impacts. This can be partially explained by New York City's unique position of levying its own personal income taxes.

Table SA. New Tork State Froduction create Local Government Revenue impact										
Local Government Revenue Category	2021	2022	2021-2022 Average	2021-2022 PV						
Total	629.8	712.4	671.1	1,313.4						
Real Property Taxes and Assessments	289.1	331.1	310.1	606.8						
Other Real Property Tax Items	11.8	13.8	12.8	25.0						
Sales and Use Tax	89.8	100.2	95.0	185.9						
Other Non-Property Taxes	27.0	30.1	28.5	55.8						
Charges for Services	36.1	40.8	38.4	75.2						
Use and Sale of Property	3.5	4.0	3.7	7.3						
Other Local Revenues	29.3	33.3	31.3	61.2						
Personal Income Taxes	87.7	97.5	92.6	181.2						
Business Income/Franchise Tax	55.6	61.8	58.7	114.9						

#### Table 3A: New York State Production Credit Local Government Revenue Impact

\*Units: Millions of Fixed Local 2021 Dollars. PV's were calculated based on the 5-year Treasury bond yield, which at the time of analysis was 4.212%. Totals, averages, and PV's may not correspond to impacts due to rounding.

Local Government Revenue Category	2021	2022	2021-2022 Average	2021-2022 PV
Total	449.3	436.0	442.6	867.7
Real Property Taxes and Assessments	176.6	171.4	174.0	341.0
Other Real Property Tax Items	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Sales and Use Tax	62.9	61.1	62.0	121.5
Other Non-Property Taxes	25.8	25.1	25.4	49.9
Charges for Services	20.8	20.2	20.5	40.3
Use and Sale of Property	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Other Local Revenues	19.8	19.2	19.5	38.2
Personal Income Taxes	87.7	85.1	86.4	169.4
Business Income/Franchise Tax	55.6	53.9	54.8	107.4

Table 3B: New York City Production Credit Local Government Revenue Impact

\*Units: Millions of Fixed Local 2021 Dollars. PV's were calculated based on the 5-year Treasury bond yield, which at the time of analysis was 4.212%. Totals, averages, and PV's may not correspond to impacts due to rounding.

Table 4 shows the state government revenue impact for New York State, averaging \$405.0 million per year. Approximately two-thirds is attributable to the state's personal income tax and over 20 percent is brought in through the state sales tax and related taxes.

State Government Revenue Category	2021	2022	2021-2022 Average	2021-2022 PV							
Total	378.6	431.4	405.0	792.6							
Personal Income	249.6	284.4	267.0	522.6							
Corporation and Business	35.3	40.3	37.8	73.9							
Sales, Excise and User	80.5	91.7	86.1	168.5							
Property Transfers	12.3	14.0	13.2	25.7							
Other Taxes and Fees	0.9	1.0	0.9	1.8							

Table 4: New York State Production Credit State Government Revenue Impact

\*Units: Millions of Fixed Local 2021 Dollars. PV's were calculated based on the 5-year Treasury bond yield, which at the time of analysis was 4.212%. Totals, averages, and PV's may not correspond to impacts due to rounding.

Table 5 shows the annual total production credits that ESD estimates will be disbursed based on 2021-2022 qualifying projects, which will average \$147.5 million over the period 2021-2031.

#### Table 5: New York State Production Credit Schedule

Category	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025	2026	2027	2028	2029	2030	2031	2021-2031 Average	2021-2031 PV
<b>Total Credits</b>	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	136.9	236.4	316.0	379.4	303.7	200.4	49.3	147.5	1,228.6

\*Units: Millions of Fixed Local 2021 Dollars. PV's were calculated based on the 5-year Treasury bond yield, which at the time of analysis was 4.212%. Averages and PV's may not correspond to annual values due to rounding.

Table 6 shows the returns on investment (ROIs) for state government revenue, state and local government revenue, GDP, and economic output relative to the production credits, which are each calculated as the ratio of the present value (PV) of the associated fiscal or economic impact metric to the PV of the tax credits. The state government revenue ROI is 0.6, but the state and local government revenue ROI is more robust at 1.7. The GDP and economic output ROIs are 13.9 and 24.2 respectively. What the ROI results show is that \$1.70 of state and local government revenue is generated for every \$1 of program credit, while \$13.90 is added to the State's GDP and economic output grows by \$24.20.

		Total Credits	
Indicator	2021-2022 PV	2021-2031 PV	<b>ROI</b> Ratio
State Government Revenue	792.6	1,228.6	0.6
State and Local Government Revenue	2,106.0	1,228.6	1.7
Gross Domestic Product	17,091.9	1,228.6	13.9
Economic Output	29,700.5	1,228.6	24.2

### Table 6: Return on Investment (ROI) for Production Credit

\*Units: Millions of Fixed Local 2021 Dollars.

## **Post-Production Impacts**

Post-production credits account for a much smaller part of the program with only a \$25 million yearly allocation for tax credits in the time period analyzed, but are treated separately due to the differences between production and post-production as well as the delineation in funding set out in the New York State Film Tax Credit Program. Results are displayed identically to production results.

Tables 7A and 7B show the employment impacts for New York State and New York City, averaging 2,881 and 2,769 jobs per year respectively. New York City accounts for 96 percent of both the direct and the total impact.

Employment Category	2021	2022	2021-2022 Average
Total Employment	2,845	2,917	2,881
Direct Employment	996	811	903
Indirect Employment	388	517	453
Induced Employment	1,461	1,589	1,525

#### Table 7A: New York State Post-Production Credit Employment Impact

\*Units: Jobs. Totals and averages may not correspond to impacts due to rounding.

#### Table 7B: New York City Post-Production Credit Employment Impact

Employment Category	2021	2022	2021-2022 Average
Total Employment	2,765	2,773	2,769
Direct Employment	969	771	870
Indirect Employment	381	500	441
Induced Employment	1,415	1,502	1,458

\*Units: Jobs. Totals and averages may not correspond to impacts due to rounding.

Tables 8A and 8B show the other economic impacts for New York State and New York City, with the former averaging \$448.9 million in GDP, \$783.4 million in economic output, and \$214.8 million in disposable personal income per year. New York City accounts for 97 percent of GDP and economic output, and 95 percent of disposable personal income.

Economic Category	2021	2022	2021-2022 Average	2021-2022 PV				
Gross Domestic Product	405.8	492.1	448.9	878.0				
Economic Output	706.9	859.9	783.4	1,532.1				
Disposable Personal Income	232.4	197.3	214.8	421.7				

### Table 8A: New York State Post-Production Credit Economic Impact

\*Units: Millions of Fixed Local 2021 Dollars. PV's were calculated based on the 5-year Treasury bond yield, which at the time of analysis was 4.212%. Averages and PV's may not correspond to impacts due to rounding.

#### Table 8B: New York City Post-Production Credit Economic Impact

Economic Category	2021	2022	2021-2022 Average	2021-2022 PV
Gross Domestic Product	397.5	473.2	435.3	851.5
Economic Output	692.1	826.0	759.1	1,484.8
Disposable Personal Income	224.1	185.3	204.7	401.8

\*Units: Millions of Fixed Local 2021 Dollars. PV's were calculated based on the 5-year Treasury bond yield, which at the time of analysis was 4.212%. Averages and PV's may not correspond to impacts due to rounding.

Table 9A shows local government revenue impacts aggregated over all of New York State, and Table 9B shows local government revenue impacts for New York City alone, averaging \$32.6 million and \$31.1 million per year respectively. Almost 50 percent of the New York State impacts are attributable to property taxes.

Local Government Revenue Category	2021	2022	2021-2022 Average	2021-2022 PV
Total	32.8	32.4	32.6	63.9
Real Property Taxes and Assessments	16.2	15.8	16.0	31.4
Other Real Property Tax Items	0.9	0.9	0.9	1.7
Sales and Use Tax	4.6	4.6	4.6	9.0
Other Non-Property Taxes	1.2	1.2	1.2	2.3
Charges for Services	2.0	2.0	2.0	3.9
Use and Sale of Property	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.5
Other Local Revenues	1.5	1.5	1.5	3.0
Personal Income Taxes	3.7	3.8	3.7	7.3
Business Income/Franchise Tax	2.3	2.4	2.4	4.6

#### Table 9A: New York State Post-Production Credit Local Government Revenue Impact

\*Units: Millions of Fixed Local 2021 Dollars. PV's were calculated based on the 5-year Treasury bond yield, which at the time of analysis was 4.212%. Totals, averages, and PV's may not correspond to impacts due to rounding.

Local Government Revenue Category	2021	2022	2021-2022 Average	2021-2022 PV
Total	31.8	30.5	31.1	61.0
Real Property Taxes and Assessments	15.6	14.7	15.1	29.7
Other Real Property Tax Items	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Sales and Use Tax	4.5	4.3	4.4	8.6
Other Non-Property Taxes	1.2	1.2	1.2	2.3
Charges for Services	1.9	1.8	1.9	3.7
Use and Sale of Property	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Other Local Revenues	2.6	2.4	2.5	4.9
Personal Income Taxes	3.7	3.7	3.7	7.3
Business Income/Franchise Tax	2.3	2.4	2.4	4.6

Table 9B: New York City Post-Production Credit Local Government Revenue Impact

\*Units: Millions of Fixed Local 2021 Dollars. PV's were calculated based on the 5-year Treasury bond yield, which at the time of analysis was 4.212%. Totals, averages, and PV's may not correspond to impacts due to rounding.

Table 10 shows the state government revenue impact for New York State, averaging \$20.3 million per year. Approximately two-thirds is attributable to the state's personal income tax and over 20 percent is brought in through the state sales tax and related taxes.

State Government Revenue Category	2021	2022	2021-2022 Average	2021-2022 PV
Total	20.5	20.1	20.3	39.8
Personal Income	13.5	13.3	13.4	26.3
Corporation and Business	1.9	1.9	1.9	3.7
Sales, Excise and User	4.4	4.3	4.3	8.5
Property Transfers	0.7	0.7	0.7	1.3
Other Taxes and Fees	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1

Table 10: New York State Post-Production Credit State Government Revenue Impact

\*Units: Millions of Fixed Local 2021 Dollars. PV's were calculated based on the 5-year Treasury bond yield, which at the time of analysis was 4.212%. Totals, averages, and PV's may not correspond to impacts due to rounding.

Table 11 shows the annual total post-production credits that ESD estimates will be disbursed based on 2021-2022 qualifying projects, which will average \$8.8 million over the period 2021-2031.

Table 11: New	<b>York State</b>	Post-Production	<b>Credit Schedule</b>

Category	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025	2026	2027	2028	2029	2030	2031	2021-2031 Average	2021-2031 PV
<b>Total Credits</b>	0.0	0.0	0.0	5.4	16.1	21.6	24.4	21.3	7.9	0.0	0.0	8.8	76.5

\*Units: Millions of Fixed Local 2021 Dollars. PV's were calculated based on the 5-year Treasury bond yield, which at the time of analysis was 4.212%. Averages and PV's may not correspond to annual values due to rounding.

Table 12 shows the returns on investment (ROIs) for state government revenue, state and local government revenue, GDP, and economic output relative to the production credits, which are each calculated as the ratio of the present value (PV) of the associated fiscal or economic impact metric to the PV of the tax credits. The state government revenue ROI is 0.5, but the state and local government revenue ROI is more robust at 1.4. The GDP and economic output ROIs are 11.5 and 20.0 respectively. What the ROI results show is that \$1.40 of state and local government revenue is generated for every \$1 of program credit, while \$11.50 is added to the State's GDP and economic output grows by \$20.00.

		Total Credits	
Indicator	2021-2022 PV	2021-2031 PV	<b>ROI</b> Ratio
State Government Revenue	39.8	76.5	0.5
State and Local Government Revenue	103.7	76.5	1.4
Gross Domestic Product	878.0	76.5	11.5
Economic Output	1,532.1	76.5	20.0

## Table 12: Return on Investment (ROI) for Post-Production Credit

\*Units: Millions of Fixed Local 2021 Dollars.

## **Total Impacts**

The total impacts will hew closely to the production impacts due to their relative size and the similarity of the ROIs.

Tables 13A and 13B show the employment impacts for New York State and New York City, averaging 65,727 and 49,868 jobs per year respectively. New York City accounts for 87 percent of the direct impact and 77 percent of the total impact.

### Table 13A: New York State Total Employment Impact

Employment Category	2021	2022	2021-2022 Average				
Total Employment	65,363	66,091	65,727				
Direct Employment	26,681	25,256	25,969				
Indirect Employment	8,036	7,255	7,646				
Induced Employment	30,646	33,580	32,113				

\*Units: Jobs. Totals and averages may not correspond to impacts due to rounding.

### Table 13B: New York City Total Employment Impact

Employment Category	2021	2022	2021-2022 Average
Total Employment	51,795	49,979	50,887
Direct Employment	23,362	21,616	22,489
Indirect Employment	6,781	5,945	6,363
Induced Employment	21,652	22,418	22,035

\*Units: Jobs. Totals and averages may not correspond to impacts due to rounding.

Tables 14A and 14B show the other economic impacts for New York State and New York City, with the former averaging \$9.2 billion in GDP, \$15.9 billion in economic output, and \$4.5 billion in disposable personal income per year. New York City accounts for about 82 percent of the GDP and economic output impacts, roughly in line with the employment impacts, but about 65 percent of the disposable personal income impact.

#### **Table 14A: New York State Total Economic Impact**

Economic Category	2021	2022	2021-2022 Average	2021-2022 PV
Gross Domestic Product	9.3	9.0	9.2	18.0
Economic Output	16.2	15.7	15.9	31.2
Disposable Personal Income	4.5	4.4	4.5	8.8

\*Units: Billions of Fixed Local 2021 Dollars. PV's were calculated based on the 5-year Treasury bond yield, which at the time of analysis was 4.212%. Averages and PV's may not correspond to impacts due to rounding.

#### Table 14B: New York City Total Economic Impact

Economic Category	2021	2022	2021-2022 Average	2021-2022 PV
Gross Domestic Product	7.8	7.2	7.5	14.7
Economic Output	13.5	12.5	13.0	25.4
Disposable Personal Income	3.0	2.8	2.9	5.7

\*Units: Billions of Fixed Local 2021 Dollars. PV's were calculated based on the 5-year Treasury bond yield, which at the time of analysis was 4.212%. Averages and PV's may not correspond to impacts due to rounding.

Table 15A shows local government revenue impacts aggregated over all of New York State, and Table 15B shows local government revenue impacts for New York City alone, averaging \$703.7 million and \$473.8 million per year respectively. Over 46 percent of the New York State impacts are attributable to property taxes, as opposed to under 40 percent of the New York City impacts.

Local Government Revenue Category	2021	2022	2021-2022 Average	2021-2022 PV
Total	662.6	744.8	703.7	1,377.3
Real Property Taxes and Assessments	305.3	346.9	326.1	638.2
Other Real Property Tax Items	12.7	14.7	13.7	26.7
Sales and Use Tax	94.4	104.8	99.6	194.9
Other Non-Property Taxes	28.2	31.3	29.7	58.2
Charges for Services	38.0	42.7	40.4	79.1
Use and Sale of Property	3.7	4.2	4.0	7.8
Other Local Revenues	30.8	34.8	32.8	64.2
Personal Income Taxes	91.4	101.2	96.3	188.6
Business Income/Franchise Tax	57.9	64.2	61.0	119.5

#### Table 15A: New York State Total Local Government Revenue Impact

\*Units: Millions of Fixed Local 2021 Dollars. PV's were calculated based on the 5-year Treasury bond yield, which at the time of analysis was 4.212%. Totals, averages, and PV's may not correspond to impacts due to rounding.

Local Government Revenue Category	2021	2022	2021-2022 Average	2021-2022 PV
Total	481.0	466.5	473.8	928.7
Real Property Taxes and Assessments	192.2	186.1	189.1	370.7
Other Real Property Tax Items	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Sales and Use Tax	67.4	65.4	66.4	130.1
Other Non-Property Taxes	27.0	26.2	26.6	52.2
Charges for Services	22.8	22.1	22.4	43.9
Use and Sale of Property	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Other Local Revenues	22.3	21.6	22.0	43.0
Personal Income Taxes	91.4	88.8	90.1	176.7
Business Income/Franchise Tax	57.9	56.3	57.1	112.0

Table 15B: New York City Total Local Government Revenue Impact

\*Units: Millions of Fixed Local 2021 Dollars. PV's were calculated based on the 5-year Treasury bond yield, which at the time of analysis was 4.212%. Totals, averages, and PV's may not correspond to impacts due to rounding.

Table 16 shows the state government revenue impact for New York State, averaging \$425.3 million per year. Approximately two-thirds is attributable to the state's personal income tax and over 20 percent is brought in through the state sales tax and related taxes.

State Government Revenue Category	2021	2022	2021-2022 Average	2021-2022 PV
Total	399.1	451.5	425.3	832.4
Personal Income	263.2	297.7	280.4	548.8
Corporation and Business	37.2	42.1	39.7	77.7
Sales, Excise and User	84.9	96.0	90.4	177.0
Property Transfers	13.0	14.7	13.8	27.0
Other Taxes and Fees	0.9	1.0	1.0	1.9

Table 16: New York State Total State Government Revenue Impact

\*Units: Millions of Fixed Local 2021 Dollars. PV's were calculated based on the 5-year Treasury bond yield, which at the time of analysis was 4.212%. Totals, averages, and PV's may not correspond to impacts due to rounding.

**Table 17: New York State Total Credit Schedule** 

Category	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025	2026	2027	2028	2029	2030	2031	2021-2031 Average	2021-2031 PV
<b>Total Credits</b>	0.0	0.0	0.0	5.4	153.0	258.0	340.4	400.7	311.6	200.4	49.3	156.2	1,305.2

\*Units: Millions of Fixed Local 2021 Dollars. PV's were calculated based on the 5-year Treasury bond yield, which at the time of analysis was 4.212%. Averages and PV's may not correspond to annual values due to rounding.

Table 18 shows the returns on investment (ROIs) for state government revenue, state and local government revenue, GDP, and economic output relative to the production credits, which are each calculated as the ratio of the present value (PV) of the associated fiscal or economic impact metric to the PV of the tax credits. The state government revenue ROI is 0.6, but the state and local government revenue ROI is more robust at 1.7. The GDP and economic output ROIs are 13.8 and 23.9 respectively. What the ROI results show is that \$1.70 of state and local government revenue is generated for every \$1 of program credit, while \$13.80 is added to the State's GDP and economic output grows by \$23.90.

Table 17 shows the annual total production and post-production credits that ESD estimates will be disbursed based on 2021-2022 qualifying projects, which will average \$156.2 million over the period 2021-2031.

## Table 18: Total Return on Investment (ROI)

		Total Credits	
Indicator	2021-2022 PV	2021-2031 PV	ROI Ratio
State Government Revenue	832.4	1,305.2	0.6
State and Local Government Revenue	2,209.7	1,305.2	1.7
Gross Domestic Product	17,969.9	1,305.2	13.8
Economic Output	31,232.6	1,305.2	23.9

\*Units: Millions of Fixed Local 2021 Dollars.

# Conclusion

REMI conducted an analysis of New York State Film Tax Credit Program after submitting a bid through a RFP process in 2022 and subsequently being chosen. The findings show that from 2021-2022, the average annual impact of the 446 projects was:

- an increase of 65,727 jobs, with over 77 percent occurring in New York City;
- \$9.2 billion in real GDP;
- \$15.9 billion in real economic output; and
- \$4.5 billion in real disposable personal income.

The total impact for both years was:<sup>11</sup>

- an increase of 131,454 jobs;
- \$18.3 billion in real GDP;
- \$31.9 billion in economic output; and
- \$8.9 billion in real disposable income.

The projects were also associated with an average annual increase of \$425.3 million in real state government revenue and \$703.7 million in real local government revenue for a 2-year combined impact of \$2.3 billion.<sup>12</sup>

In total, these government revenue impacts combined to a ROI of 1.7 relative to the total credits that will be distributed during 2024-2031. Overall economic ROIs are measured at 13.8 for real GDP and 23.9 for real economic output.

What this means is that for every \$1 of program tax credit:

- \$1.70 of state and local government tax revenue is generated;
- \$13.80 is added to real GDP; and
- \$23.90 of additional real economic output is created.

Film and television production and post-production remain important pieces of the New York State and New York City economies, and the credit-eligible 2021-2022 projects comprised a significant fraction of the industry activity, supporting robust levels of overall employment and economic production and positive fiscal returns.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> As in footnotes 1-6 in the Executive Summary, this employment impact is in units of job-years and the remainder of these impacts are undiscounted sums.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> As above, this is an undiscounted sum.

## Literature Review

A literature review was conducted to understand the history and effectiveness of state-level film tax credit programs and the extent of related film and television tourism, which can bolster the direct benefits of production activity. The goals of such programs include attracting film and television companies to begin projects in or move projects to the state; maintaining the presence of those companies and projects; and producing net positive economic and fiscal impacts for the state and its residents and businesses. Film and television tourism – such as the "Tolkien tourism" effect seen in New Zealand – has also become of interest to policymakers due to its potential to attract visitors and their associated spending. This is especially true in New York State, which sees a sizable share of film and television production and maximizes the value of that exposure with the uniquely recognizable backdrop of New York City and the natural beauty of upstate New York. References are available in Appendix 2.

## State Film Tax Credit Programs

## Film Tax Incentives Back in the Spotlight – National Conference of State Legislatures

The first film tax credit was enacted by Louisiana in 1992, and expanded to most states in the early 2000's, peaking in 2010 with 45 states. Today, 35 states, Washington, D.C., Puerto Rico, and the U.S. Virgin Islands offer film tax incentives. While there is evidence of greater return on investment in other tax credit schemes, states such as Georgia have seen great returns in economic activity, state revenues, and tourism.

### The Economic Impact of Montana Film Production – Econsult Solutions, Inc.

The Montana Economic Development Industry Advancement (MEDIA) Act of 2019 provides film tax credits for in-state projects. Over half of output and nearly half of the jobs in film projects is linked to the MEDIA Act incentives. These projects also have a ripple effect in the economy, including indirect demand in industries such as catering, hotels, and transportation, and wider impacts on tourism, arts and culture, and capital investment in studio facilities.

### Economic Impact of the New Mexico Film Production Tax Credit – New Mexico Film Office

New Mexico's film tax credit was found to have a gross value added (GVA) return on investment of 7.83. This is comparable to GDP used in this report and can be used as a loose benchmark.

### California's Film Tax Credit – California Legislative Analyst's Office

California and particularly Los Angeles County is the preeminent location for film and television production, accounting for about half of U.S. productions. Due in part to this dominance and the size of the tax credit investment, California officials have been skeptical of the utility of the program. However, the study found that credits influence location decisions for anywhere from 25 to 75 percent of credit recipients. Beyond this immediate attraction, a refundable tax credit – which New York employs – was determined to be more equitable, as it "delinks credit claiming from tax liability and thereby lessens differential treatment of taxpayers".

<u>California Film and Television Tax Credit Program 2.0</u> – Los Angeles County Economic Development Corporation

LAEDC found a return on investment of 16.12 in GDP, 8.60 in wages, and 1.07 in state and local government revenue. In research on the larger impact of the film and television industry, a "critical mass" of labor and capital investment, as well as multi-season television series, incentivizes and secures long-term benefits to the state economy.

## Evaluation: Film Incentives – Virginia Joint Legislative Audit and Review Commission

In evaluating Virginia's film tax credit incentives, JLARC found ROIs of 0.20 and 0.30 for its credit and grant programs, respectively. Virginia's incentive scheme is substantially smaller than New York's – \$47.5 million over 5 years compared to \$420 million annually. The grant program has an in-kind advertising incentive to boost tourism in the state.

## Film & Television Tourism

## Promoting Destinations via Film Tourism – University of South Carolina

It was found that the majority of state and national tourism departments saw increases in tourism when using film-focused marketing initiatives, particularly when coordinating with film studios on content and direction. The study offers key insights into the possibilities of proactively promoting in-state film productions and emphasizes the importance of either the film or television show's plot being explicitly set in the state or country of production – thereby highlighting cultural, environmental, and other features of the state. Notable U.S. examples of increases in annual tourism numbers included Close Encounters of the Third Kind (75 percent initial, 20 percent year-by-year in Wyoming) and Little Women (65 percent in Massachusetts).

## Tourist See Tourist Do – University of North Texas

This study conducted an extensive literature review and surveyed respondents on movie and television preferences and factors to travel. There is greater and wider access to leisure travel than ever before due to a combination of economic and technological advances. Online resources such as discount booking sites and travel guides are aided by social media, and media of all kinds is also nearly ubiquitous due to smartphone and internet use. Overall, it was found that movies and television create a positive impact on individuals' inclination to engage in travel tourism. The main driver of such tourism was determined by one's television viewing behavior – what specific programs participants watched – followed by the image of the destination as portrayed in either film or television, as well as by movie viewing behavior.

# Appendix 1: REMI Model Framework & Fiscal Calibration

#### **REMI Model Framework**

Tax-PI is a structural economic, demographic, and fiscal forecasting and policy analysis model. The following core framework applies to all REMI model builds. The model integrates input-output, computable general equilibrium, econometric and economic geography methodologies. The model is dynamic, with forecasts and simulations generated on an annual basis and behavioral responses to compensation, price, and other economic factors.

The model consists of thousands of simultaneous equations with a structure that is relatively straightforward. The exact number of equations used varies depending on the extent of industry, demographic, demand, and other detail in the specific model being used. The overall structure of the model can be summarized in five major blocks: (1) Output and Demand, (2) Labor and Capital Demand, (3) Population and Labor Supply, (4) Compensation, Prices, and Costs, and (5) Market Shares. The blocks and their key interactions are shown in Figures 1 and 2.

#### Figure A1.1: REMI Model Linkages

REMI Model Linkages (Excluding Economic Geography Linkages)



REMI

## Figure A1.2: Economic Geography Linkages



Economic Geography Linkages



The Output and Demand block consists of output, demand, consumption, investment, government spending, exports, and imports, as well as feedback from output change due to the change in the productivity of intermediate inputs. The Labor and Capital Demand block includes labor intensity and productivity as well as demand for labor and capital. Labor force participation rate and migration equations are in the Population and Labor Supply block. The Compensation, Prices, and Costs block includes composite prices, determinants of production costs, the consumption price deflator, housing prices, and the compensation equations. The proportion of local, inter-regional, and export markets captured by each region is included in the Market Shares block.

Models can be built as single region, multi-region, or multi-region national models. A region is defined broadly as a sub-national area, and could consist of a state, province, county, or city, or any combination of sub-national areas.

Single-region models consist of an individual region, called the home region. The rest of the nation is also represented in the model. However, since the home region is only a small part of the total nation, the changes in the region do not have an endogenous effect on the variables in the rest of the nation. Multi-regional models have interactions among regions, such as trade and commuting flows. These interactions include trade flows from each region to each of the other regions. These flows are illustrated for a three-region model in Figure 3.



# **Trade and Commuter Flow Linkages**

Multiregional national models also include a central bank monetary response that constrains labor markets. Models that only encompass a relatively small portion of a nation are not endogenously constrained by changes in exchange rates or monetary responses.

## Block 1. Output and Demand

This block includes output, demand, consumption, investment, government spending, import, commodity access, and export concepts. Output for each industry in the home region is determined by industry demand in all regions in the nation, the home region's share of each market, and international exports from the region.

For each industry, demand is determined by the amount of output, consumption, investment, and capital demand on that industry. Consumption depends on real disposable income per capita, relative prices, differential income elasticities, and population. Input productivity depends on access to inputs because a larger choice set of inputs means it is more likely that the input with the specific characteristics required for the job will be found. In the capital stock adjustment process, investment occurs to fill the difference between optimal and actual capital stock for residential, non-residential, and equipment investment. Government spending changes are determined by changes in the population.

## Block 2. Labor and Capital Demand

The Labor and Capital Demand block includes the determination of labor productivity, labor intensity, and the optimal capital stocks. Industry-specific labor productivity depends on the availability of workers with differentiated skills for the occupations used in each industry. The occupational labor supply and commuting costs determine firms' access to a specialized labor force.

Labor intensity is determined by the cost of labor relative to the other factor inputs, capital and fuel. Demand for capital is driven by the optimal capital stock equation for both non-residential capital and equipment. Optimal capital stock for each industry depends on the relative cost of labor and capital, and the employment weighted by capital use for each industry. Employment in private industries is determined by the value added and employment per unit of value added in each industry.

## Block 3. Population and Labor Supply

The Population and Labor Supply block includes detailed demographic information about the region. Population data is given for age, gender, and race, with birth and survival rates for each group. The size and labor force participation rate of each group determines the labor supply. These participation rates respond to changes in employment relative to the potential labor force and to changes in the real aftertax compensation rate. Migration includes retirement, military, international, and economic migration. Economic migration is determined by the relative real after-tax compensation rate, relative employment opportunity, and consumer access to variety.

## Block 4. Compensation, Prices and Costs

This block includes delivered prices, production costs, equipment cost, the consumption deflator, consumer prices, the price of housing, and the compensation equation. Economic geography concepts account for the productivity and price effects of access to specialized labor, goods, and services.

These prices measure the price of the industry output, taking into account the access to production locations. This access is important due to the specialization of production that takes place within each industry, and because transportation and transaction costs of distance are significant. Composite prices for each industry are then calculated based on the production costs of supplying regions, the effective distance to these regions, and the index of access to the variety of outputs in the industry relative to the access by other uses of the product.

The cost of production for each industry is determined by the cost of labor, capital, fuel, and intermediate inputs. Labor costs reflect a productivity adjustment to account for access to specialized labor, as well as underlying compensation rates. Capital costs include costs of non-residential structures and equipment, while fuel costs incorporate electricity, natural gas, and residual fuels.

The consumption deflator converts industry prices to prices for consumption commodities. For potential migrants, the consumer price is additionally calculated to include housing prices. Housing prices change from their initial level depending on changes in income and population density.

Compensation changes are due to changes in labor demand and supply conditions and changes in the national compensation rate. Changes in employment opportunities relative to the labor force and occupational demand change determine compensation rates by industry.

## Block 5. Market Shares

The market shares equations measure the proportion of local and export markets that are captured by each industry. These depend on relative production costs, the estimated price elasticity of demand, and the effective distance between the home region and each of the other regions. The change in share of a specific area in any region depends on changes in its delivered price and the quantity it produces compared with the same factors for competitors in that market. The share of local and external markets then drives the exports from and imports to the home economy.

## **Fiscal Calibration**

Each Tax-PI budget category is assigned an "Economic Indicator" that allows it to respond to changes in a specific economic variable (e.g., Personal Income for Personal Income Tax Revenue). Because the Tax-PI model integrates the economic outlook into fiscal projections, this analysis captures the interaction between economic activity and the level of tax revenue.

## Appendix 2: References

Brainerd, Jackson & Jimenez, Andrea (2022, May 5) *Film Tax Incentives Back in the Spotlight*. National Conference of State Legislatures.

California Legislative Analyst's Office (2023, February) The 2023-2024 Budget: California's Film Tax Credit.

Econsult Solutions, Inc. (2022, June 16) *The Economic Impact of Montana Film Production*.

Hudson, Simon (2006, May) Promoting Destinations via Film Tourism: An Empirical Identification of Supporting Marketing Initiatives.

Los Angeles Economic Development Corporation (2022, March) *California Film and Television Tax Credit Program 2.0.* 

New Mexico Film Office (2022, December 19) *Economic Impact of the New Mexico Film Production Tax Credit*.

Spears, Daniel L.; Josiam, Bharath M.; Kinley, Tammy; & Pookulangara, Sanjukta (2013, February) *Tourist See Tourist Do: The Influence of Hollywood Movies and Television on Tourism Motivation and Activity Behavior*.

Virginia Joint Legislative Audit and Review Commission (2017, November 13) Evaluation: Film Incentives.